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CITY oF OAKLAND

DATE: 5/2/19
TO: City Councilmembers and Members of the Rules and Legislation Committee
- FROM: Councilmember Noel Gallo

SUBJECT: Renaming Nicol Park to Gwenb Jackson Park

RECOMMENDATION
Councilmember Noel Gallo recommends that the City Council adopt:

RESOLUTION RENAMING NICOL PARK TO'GWEN JACKSON PARK
SUMMARY
Councilmember Gallo strongly supports the renaming of Nicol Park located on the corner of
Nicol St. and Coolidge Ave as Gwen Jackson Park per the process established by Res. No. 77967
to honor the life and contributions of Gwen Jackson to the City of Oakland.
The resolution "Gwen Jackson Park" fulfills the criteria and intent of the naming program to
honor citizens who have made exemplary contributions to the residents of Oakland as set forth in
City Council Resolution No. 65024 C.M.S
OUTCOME
The legislation will mandate the City Administrator, Public Works and Department of Parks and
Recreation of the City of Oakland to carry out all appropriate and necessary procedures with the

renaming of Nicol Park to Gwen Jackson Park and placement of sign(s) or plaque(s) and on any
city records to that effect on per Res. 65024 C.M.S.

LEGISLATIVE HISTORY

City Council Resolution No. 65024 C.M.S., the adopted procedure for designating official names
for municipal (public) facilities in the City of Oakland, allows memorializing a living person only
under special circumstances such as “overwhelming belief (public opinion) that the designee
would probably be honored for that facility post-humously” and “the honoree has given
extraordinary service to the City or the community.”
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On February 22", the Office of Councilmember Noel Gallo received a letter from the 21X/Y
NCPC group requesting the Councilmember’s support to rename Nicol Park to Gwen Jackson
Park. The group very pointedly understood that per City Council Resolution No 65024, no park
shall be renamed if already named after an individual. Through thorough research it was clear that
Nicol Park had not been named after any other individual and therefore could be named after
long-time resident, community member and Nicol Park founder, Gwen Jackson.

Gwen Jackson, who died July 2018 at age 80, dedicated herself to improving our community to
the last day of her life. She initiated the work that transformed Nicol Park from a vacant lot to the
children’s playground it now is, first by holding community events in the park and then leading
the effort to secure grants that funded the play structure, colorful tiles, mural, and planter boxes
that now grace the park. For years Ms. Gwen ran free summer Saturday programs for children,
with arts, drama, science discovery, and play. Many in our community have been involved —
adopting the park, keeping it clean, planting and watering flowers, helping with the summer
program, providing toys and art supplies. None of this would have happened without Gwen
Jackson’s vision, leadership and optimism.

PUBLIC OUTREACH/INTEREST

Neighbors from the 21X/Y NCPC came together after the death of Gwen Jackson in 2018 to
rename the park that Ms. Jackson founded. They met with each other and over the course of a few
months conducted research and outreach for the renaming of the park. The purpose of the research
was to ascertain whether Nicol Park was specifically named in honor or memory of a family or
person, to determine whether we could proceed with our proposal to change the park’s name. The
research process included phone conversations with local historians and several hours at the
Oakland History Room looking at Block Books, Directories and newspaper microfiches. Their
research concluded that Nicol Park is not itself directly named after a family or individual. As
recently as 1910, there was a residence on the corner that now contains the park. When the park
was created, it was evidently just given the name of the street it was on, for convenience and they
could therefore proceed to name the park Gwen Jackson Park.

Per the process established by resolution 65024 to designate name of public facilities, the
constituents of 21X/Y NCPC presented to the Oakland Parks and Recreation Advisory
Commission (OPRAC) on March 29, 2019. The OPRAC approved of the renaming of the park
given the group’s extensive research of the park’s history and the moving presentation on Gwen
Jackson’s life and contributions to the community and City of Oakland.

COORDINATION

This report and legislation have been reviewed by Department of Park and Recreation.

FISCAL IMPACT
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The funds for the manufacturing and associated costs to place the sign will be fundralsed by the
group of constituents from the 21X/Y NCPC.

SUSTAINABLE OPPORTUNITIES

Economic: No direct economic opportunities have been identified.
Environmental: There are no impacts to environmental opportunities associated with this report.

Social Equity: This resolution intends to promote social equity by memorializing a person of the
community who was a local resident of the Oakland community.

CEQA

The renaming of an existing public park is exempt from the California Env1ronmenta1 Quality Act
of 1970.

For questions regarding this report, please contact Mar Velez, Office of Councilmember Noel
Gallo at (510) 238-6126.
Respectfully submitted,

- Councilmember Noel Gallo, District 5

S

Prepared by:
Mar Velez, Office of
Councilmember Noel Gallo, District 5

Attachments:

A —Proposed Resolution

B — OPRAC Report

C — Interview Log

D -2001 Oakland Tribune Article
E —Nicol Park Name History
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OAKLAND CITY COUNCIL
RESOLUTION NO. | C.M.S.

INTRODUCED BY COUNCILMEMBER NOEL GALLO

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE RENAMING OF NICOL PARK TO
GWEN JACKSON PARK

WHEREAS, Nicol Park is located on the corner of Coohdge Avenkr'e and Nicol Avenue
in Council District 5; and

- WHEREAS, Ms. Gwen Jackson initiated the work that transformed Nicol Park from a
blighted vacant lot known for drug dealing, to the childreh’s playground used today by
children in the community. Ms. Jackson first held conv{numty events in the lot and led
efforts to secure grants that funded the play structure, colorful tiles, mural, and planter
boxes that now grace the park; and /

WHEREAS, for years Ms. Gwen ran free(s/ﬁmmer Saturday programs in the park for
children, with arts, drama, science discovery, and play; and

WHEREAS, Ms. Gwen Jackson q,eﬁféated herself to improving our community to the
last day of her life. Even though-éhe did not have much, she was determined to
contribute, and to provide local children with opportunities she herself had lacked. Ms.
Gwen served on local bogrds, and founded FACE (Fruitvale Appreciating Cultural
Exchange), offering free utoring and classes in sewing, arts, drama, and cooking; and

WHEREAS, Gwep,Jackson died in July 2018 at age 80; and

WHEREAS, with this renaming, the neighbors and friends of the park honor her and the
difference she made in the neighborhood. Many in the community have been involved —
adopting the park, keeping it clean, planting and watering flowers, helping with the
summer program, providing toys and art supplies. None of this would have happened
without Gwen Jackson’s vision, leadership and optimism; and

WHEREAS, Joanne Jasson and members of the Neighborhood Crime Prevention
Council 21 X/Y, Friends of Nicol Park, neighbors, and community members from City
Council District 5 came together to commemorate the life and contributions of Ms. Gwen
Jackson by renaming Nicol Park to ‘Gwen Jackson Park’; and

WHEREAS, the Parks and Recreation Advisory Commission unanimously endorsed the
staff recommendation to rename the park at its regular meeting on March 29, 2019; and



WHEREAS, the renaming of the park is in keeping with the criteria listed in Resolution
No. 65024 C.M.S. on Designating Official Names for Municipal Facilities and Resolution
No. 56600, Procedure for Designating Official Names for Park and Recreation Facilities
in the City of Oakland; now, therefore, be it '

RESOLVED: That the Oakland City Council finds and determines that the renaming-of
Nicol Park to Gwen Jackson Park is consistent with City Council Resolution Nos. 65024
C.M.S. and 66600 C.M.S.; and be it

FURTHER RESOLVED: That the Oakland City Council directs the City Administrator to
proceed with the designation of Gwen Jackson Park and the placement of sign(s) or
plaque(s) to that effect.

IN COUNCIL, OAKLAND, CALIFORNIA,
PASSED BY THE FOLLOWING VOTE:

AYES - FORTUNATO BAS, GALLO, GIBSON MCELHANEY, KALB, REID, TAYLOR, THAO AND
PRESIDENT KAPLAN

NOES -
ABSENT -
ABSTENTION -
ATTEST:

LATONDA SIMMONS
, City Clerk and Clerk of the Council of the
City of Oakland, California
2707396v1
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PARKS RECREATION &
YOUTH DEVELOPMENT

CITY OF OAKLAND
Oakland Parks, Recreation & Youth Development

TO: C.N.E. Corbin, Chair, Parks and Recreation Advisory Commission
FROM: Gail McMillon, Parks, Recreation & Youth Development
DATE: March 29, 2019
'SUBJECT: REQUEST FOR THE PARKS AND RECREATION ADVISORY .
COMMISSION TO MAKE A RECOMMENDATION ON RENAMING NICOL
PARK TO GWEN JACKSON PARK

SUM]VIARY

Staff received a request from Kate Chaplin on behalf of NCPC-21xy, neighbors, and community

- members from City Council District 5 “Upper Peralta Creek” neighborhood for the Parks and.
Recreation Advisory Commission to make a recommendation to the City Council Rules and
Procedures/Legislative Committee on renaming of Nicol Park located at the corner of Nicol Street
and Coolidge Avenue, in honor and memory of Ms. Gwen Jackson (1937-2018), to Gwen Jackson
Park. City Council Resolution No. 65024 (See Exhibit A) notes that honorific naming is appropriate
when the honoree “initiated or contributed major time to the establishment of the project” or, has
given “extraordinary service to the City or the community”. This request and proposal has the full

- support of Councilmember Noel Gallo, District 5 (See Exhibit B).

FISCAL IMPACT

If the park renaming is authorized by the Oakland City Council, the community would like to replace
the park sign with a newly desigred sign reflecting the new park name. Fundraising efforts will be
provided by community members or they will seek funding to request a grant from the Oakland
Parks and Recreation Foundation to assist with replacement of the sign. The cost to retain the
existing sign and replace only the name board will be prov1ded by the Oakland Public Works
Department.

PROJECT / PROGRAM DESCRIPTION

The requested project would rename Nicol Park in honor and memory of Ms. Gwen Jackson who led
the effort to transform a vacant lot into the usable playground that is Nicol Park today (See Exhibits
C, D, E). Naming the park after Gwen Jackson creates the opportunity to share the story of the
impact she had on the park and the surrounding community. It would send a positive message to the
neighborhood that residents who get involved and work to make things better for the community are
honored. One community member wrote, “She provided me with a valuable living lesson on the
power of persistence and a courageous heart.”

PRAC — April 10 2019
Item 7F



* Nicol Park was little more than a vacant lot, primarily used for driig dealing. Ms. Jackson began

- hosting community events, barbecues and activities for children, and engaged drug dealers to help
keep the park clean and usable. Her consistent and generous presence changed the atmosphere and
the drug dealers moved away. Ms. Jackson led neighbors in applying for grants to fund the play
structures, mutal, tilework and planter boxes that turned the site into the playground for children it
now is. Ms. Jackson felt there was more to do. Every summer, she offered Saturday programs of art,
drama, music and science discovery for neighborhood children free of charge. The day before she
died, she was at the park, sharing her time, laughter, and love with the children.

BACKGROUND / LEGISLATIVE HISTORY

City Council Resolution No. 65024 cautions against changing the name of a facility already named
for someone else. Extensive historical research indicates that the park’s current name is that of its -
street, and not any family or individual. Neighbors exfensively researched the history of Nicol Park
and can attest that the park is not named after a person or family (See ExFibit F). Block Books from
the Oakland History room confirm that, as recently as 1910, there were buildings on the lots on Nicol
Avenue where the park currently stands. When the buildings were taken down and the empty lots
‘turned into a park, the City undoubtedly named the park after its street, for convenience. Nicol -
Avenue has been in existence before the park was built and the park given the name of the original
tract. Research back to the 19 century was unable to identify any person or fanily likely to have
been the owner.

Even though Ms. Jackson came from a life of poverty and struggle, she looked for how things could
be better and what she could do to make that happen. She persisted in her determination to improve
her community and provide local children with opportunities she herself had lacked. As community
letters and testimonials, newspaper articles, and a documentary film attest, longtime resident Ms.
Gwen Jackson gave unceasingly to the neighborhood and community in multiple ways (See Exhibit
G). She served on local boards, founded a community center offering neighborhood children free
after-school programs. She brought a park back to life and was determined to: 1mprove others’ lives
and offer opportunities she hadn’t had. It was Gwen Jackson’s leadership and vision that
transformed a neglected vacant corner lot into the actively used children’s playground that serves the
neighborhood today, with a play structure, lovely tile walls, a mural and planter boxes. In addition,
Ms. Jackson ran a free children’s activity program every summet Saturday, offering crafts, games
and her own love and wisdom for years. Ms. Jackson’s contributions to the Upper Peralta (aka
“Upper Fruitvale”) neighborhood constitute the “unique or civic circumstances” as noted in City
Council Resolution No. 65024. :

2 PRAC - April 10, 2019
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" RECOMMENDATION |
Staff recommends that the Parks and Recreation Advisory Commission make a recommendation to
the City Council Rules and Procedures/Legislative Committee to rename Nicol Park to Gwen

- Jackson Park.

Respectfully submltted

Qﬂ“cﬁ\ L\_ {s/ Dana Riley
Prepared by: Gail McMillon ‘ Approved by: Dana Riley -
~Office Manager . - Assistant Director

ATTACHMENTS: Exhibit A — City Council Resolution No. 65024
. Exhibit B — Statenient of Support from the Office of Councilmember Noel
Gallo
Exhibit C — Newspaper Article: Fruitvale's Gwen Jackson (4 pages)
Exhibit D— Trust for Public Land Article: New Playground for Oakland
Exhibit E —~ Newspaper Article: About Face, funds and staymg alive

Exhibit F — History of Nicol Park’s Name
Exhibit G — Testimonials for Renaming Nicol Park for Gwen Jackson (5 pages)

31 ‘ PRAC - April 10, 2019
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RESOLUTION No. 65024 o wms.

|\ INTRAGUCED BY COUNCILMEMSER ’ _ - M&a
— .

RESOLUTION APPROVING AND ADOPTING A PROCEDURE
FOR DESIGNATING OFFICIAL NAMES FOR MUNICIPAL
(PUBLIC) FACILITIES IN THE CITY OF OAKLAND

S

WHEREAS, the City Council Rules and Procedures/Legislative. Committee
of the City of Oakland has conducted a review of the procedure by which .
the City Council selects appropriate names for municipal facilities in
the City of Oakland, other than Parks and Recreation facilities; and

WHEREAS, the City Counci] has directed that an official procedure be’
established for designating official names- for public facilities in the
City of Oakland; now, therefore, be it . :

_ RESOLVED: That the City Council herewith approves and adopts the
following procedure for naming public facilities inm the City of Oakland:

1. Any individual or entity may initiate a proposal to ném,e or
rename a public facility in the City of Oakland. o

2. All requests for naming and renaming public facilities in the
’ City of Oakland shall be transmitted to -the Rules and
Procedurgs/Legislative Committee, including requests by:
(a) individuals and ﬁubh’c officials; '
-{B) clubs, civic groups, or neighborhosd organizatians; .
- {c) public agencies or g'ovérnmental entities. '
3. Any request to name or rename park and racreation facilitfes
shall be referred to, or may be initiated by, the Oakland Parks
and Recreation Advisory Commissfon (OPRAC). The recommendation

of the OPRAC shall be referred to the Rules and Procedures/
. Legistative Committee. . J .

4. The Rules and Procedures/LegislﬁtiVe Committee shall review all
raquests and recommend an appropriata name to the City Council.
Sp_}acia} consideration will be rendered based upon the following
critaria: . '

(a) a geographical area of the City or a.significant historical
event;

" (b).an individual philanthropist, family, or estate name;

(¢) unique or civie circumstances;

Exobis A
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(d) memor‘la‘l'lzation of a 1iving person, only under’ special
ci reumstances as .follows:

°  the honoree contributed half or more of the cost of a -
major facility; .

. °  the honoree initiated or contrfbuted major time to the
establishment of the project;

.° " overwhelming belief (public opinfon) that the designee
would probably be honored for that faciifty post-
‘humouslys

"% {f no other indiv‘lduﬂ now Hving has, or is Tikely to
. have, greater public support for befng honored at this
specific site; )

? the honoree has given extraordinary service to the City
- or the community;

°  the honoree has attained natjfonal or 1nternat1ona1 x
prominence and achievement. Lo

(\ : Upon approval the City shall 1imit 1ts recognition of an honoree to one
- facility or portmn thereof, Further, facilities named for a specific
individual should rarely be renamed, although the City Council could be
-¥ ‘flexible in ranaming facilities orwgmaﬂy named for geographical areas,
etc. - A public hearing shall be conducted by the City Cauncﬂ prior to
the ofﬁcial desi gnation of any name for a public facﬂ'fty 3

IN COUNCIL, CAKLAND, CALIFORNIA, 'UE-‘-,L 14887 . 1o

PASSED BY THE FOLLOWING vo'rz.
AYES-— BAZILE, CANNON m GILMORE, MOORE, OGAWA, RILES, SPEES, and PRESIDENT WILSON , - &
NOES— NONE ‘ ’

ABSENT— CANNON, - 1

Vd .

‘... ABSTENTION~— NONE

Clty Clerk and Clark'é? the Council

200243 (7163} at the Clty of Qakiand, California '
‘ : . ToTAL. P.82




From: "Gallo, Noel" <NGallo@oaklandca.gov>
To; JOANNE JASSON <[oannejasson@comcast.net>, "Velez, Mar" <MVelez@_oaklandcg gov>, NCPC Beats

21X-Y <ncpe21xy@gmall.com>, "Chavez, Mayra A" <MChavez@oaklandca. go v>
Date: February 25, 2019 at 11:00 AM

“Subject: RE: Park Rename Request NGalio Support

Hiloanne,

The Councilmember fully supports the effort to rename the park after Gwen Jackson. Please let me
know what the next steps are and how CM Gallo’s office can be helpful in this important effort.

Thank you,

Mar



mailto:loanneiasson@Gomcast.net
mailto:nrnr7i_xv@gmall.com
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Commumtv Newe

F rultvale s Gwen Jackson busﬂy tends to
'her ‘Unflnlshed Busmess |

By MARK HEDIN | mhadln@bayareanewsgroup com |-Bay Area News Group
PUBLlSHED March 3 2017 at 10 03] am i UPDATED March 3 2017 at 10 33 am-

OAKLAND . ”Nearmg 80 Fruitvale s GWen Jackson says, ”l don’t know how many‘more
.years God has for me on. thls Earth but t would hke to make,rt more frurtful T

Her track record of commumty work in Frurtvale is: such that she was smgled out for
horiors during Black Hrstory Month w1th an event at Peralta Hacrenda. RER

now, (Photo by Al 4 Pergament) : S B
lncluded inthe ) program was a screenmg of "Unﬂnished Busmess The Lives of Gwen "o
Afterward she. and fnmmaker Jonathan Hoffman took questlons from the auduence
about her life and hard times and accomplishments as a neighbarhood activist.

"




“It was about me, so | didn’t think anybody’d be interested. But we had a packed house,
~and it went over very well g Jackson said Iater in an interview oo '

-Her focus ison helping provide for the young people in her world For almost 10 years,
she ran.a community center that she. founded in-a house at Coolidge and Brookdale
avenues it offered kids =and. seniors too, she added —_ classes in computer skills,
gardening, bike reparr and cooklng SRR . '

”We were open every day, the city gave us a grant” that allowed them to pay rent and
keep the lights op, she said Around 2006, though she had to give it up because of
health issues and ”l didn t have anybody to take it over," she said S

lt was there that filmmaker Hoffman first encountered her He was a graduate student
at UC Berkeley domg field research for his dissertation, looking at racial and ethnic
relations and neighborhood change in Oakland he wrate in an email

That first meeting was on the porch of the center Soon, he was workihg there as a.
volunteer teachmg after-school wdeo production classes B By

“ couldn't have |mag|ned that we’d end up working on'a film proiect that would span
- more'thana decade and evalve into; a feature- -length documentary Nor could I have
known that it was the begmning of a lifelong friendship," he wrote "

But |t did "She s an insplration to me and countless others Iucky enough to know her,”
he wrote. The film he has made about Jackson is a work in progress, he hopes t0. haVe e/'
final cut this summier. In the meantime, he has screened rough cutsat the Oakland '
International and black film festivals, and in Washington, D. C and Baltimore

The film seemed to energize her he said 1 really feel good m my body now," she sald

Jackson ran away from her Atlanta home when she was ir seventh grade She stuttered
and said she felt ashamed and discouraged about her educational prospects So.she.
began workmg, mostly as a cook or housemaid in the homes of whlte people, she said

in 1965, she came west with aman but the' relationship dld not last and she was back on
her own With Iessons learned from: her mother. of “how not to be wasteful and take
care of our surroundings, she worked asa cook ata conValescent homé and attended
Laney and Alameda colleges, where she coordinated the frrst black student umon and
volunteered for the Black Panthers meal programs ST

California, she said, ”has, been a dream for me. | was able to go back t6 school.”



She earned an associate degreeand a fashlon art certificate and took workshops In -
grant wrutlng Jackson has not. been able to use her fashlon trammg, but she would like
to start programs to share her knowledge with’ youngsters, she said She has materlal
and sewmg machmes, but no space to. welcome students IR : -

Her- one bedroom apartment is: too small she sald Jackson did manage to. show some '.
young people how to make blankets, thOUgh and a large one. they completed ls on vrew
at. Peralta Haclenda ' : L L

The health ‘care system has her feelmg grateful too She credlts MediCare and the o
Center for Elder lndependence at the Eastmorit Mall for keepmg her healthy, and her
church ngdom Burlders at 7272 MacArthur Blvd for supportlng her too ‘

a want to go out there and learn to take what | already know and mmrster to help the
communlty,” she sard "There sa lot | would lrke to do NI : SN

But she has some other thlngs gomg in the meantlme

A block up the street from her Frurtvale home, tlny NICO| Park sat neglected "They had
-drug—selling, and’ people were afraid t0.80°use the park 4 Jackson recalled “That was: a
few years. back The park had gone. down Me and some seniors got together, and we -
started barbeculng and asked the drug dealers if they would keep the park clean and
keep the paraphernalla out And after a while, they left AT

“My vrsuon is to keep the park alrve by havrng events and actlwtres O they won t come "
back We would love to haVe some assrstance, Jackson sald : R

The clty 5 department of Parks and Recreatlon provrded a SSOO grant so that w_e cdul_d,:,
have a httle money to do the planmng, she sand : B S

”We had lunch for the krds and outreach for them so they would have somethmg to do,"A
she sald She oVersees programs there from Aprll to August S R

”What we are trymg to do is get people more mvolved in the nelghborhood People who"
would volunteer, people who would do communrty work Jackson sald : '

”We would lrke to get some money to glve older krds o mlddle-schoolers — a stnpend
for’ keepmg the park clean We d llke to get more partrcrpatlon and outreach to let '
people know what’s gomg on R _ . : - :

”l’m 79 There's just so much lc can dol" " '

bt
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ENew Playground for Oakland (CA)

' January 11, 2001
California

OAKLAND, CA—Oakland City Councilmember Dick Spees and Dr. Harry Edwards,
Director of Oakland's Parks, Recreation and Culture Department, joined Fruitvale
community leaders to cut the ribbon today on the newly rebuilt Nicol Park, The
dignitaries were joined by students from Fruitvale Elementary School, their parents,
other residents of Fruitvale, as well as representatives of the Trust for Public Land and
the community group, Fruitvale Appreciating Cultural Exchange (FACE).

After the ceremony and performances, the playground was swarmed by children who
later lined up for food that represented the diversity of the community—dim sum, fried

chicken, Vietnamese spring rolls, agua frescas and cake.

The rebuilt playground is the second project of the Trust for Public Land's (TPL) Bay
Area Community Parks and Playgrounds Program. The first project is the n'ewly rebuilt
Lincoln Playground in Oakland's Chinatown. TPL and the City of Oakland worked
together to choose potential project sites. Nicol Park was chosen because it was in great

need of improvements and served a low-to-moderate income community.

TPL secured funding for park improvements through the San Francisco Foundation and
other sources and conducted a community design charette to come up with a design for a

new play structure.

"We are very grateful to the San Francisco Foundation, the Evelyn and Walter Haas Jr.
Fund, and our other supporters for their generous funding of this project," remarked

Garlen Capita, Program Manager for the Trust for Public Land.

EXHIBIT D



The Trust for Public Land held two community design workshops at Nicole Park.
Members of the community were enéouragéd to give their feedback and ideas for the
park design. The community's vision for the park was incorporated into a master plan for
the new park design. TPL also held two workshops with students of Fruitvale Elementary
School, and a second community -design day to finalize the master plan for the new Nicol
Park.

At the ceremony, TPL awarded Gwen J ackson, the Executive Director of FACE, TPL's
first annual Bay Area Park and Open Space Stewardship Award. The $500 cash gift and
framed certificate was given to Jackson for her long-term work with the Fruitvale

community to improve Nicol Park.

The Trust for Public Land is a national, nonprofit land conservation organization that
works nationwide to conserve land for people. Since 1972, TPL has protected more than
1.2 million acres of land including the creation or revitalization of hundreds of urban
parks. In the San Francisco Bay Area, TPL has protected more than 20,000 acres
including the King Estates Park and Skyline Ranch in Oakland.

https://www.tpl.org/media-room/new-playground-oakland-ca

EXHIBIT D


https://www.tpl.org/media-room/new-plavground-oakland-ca

The Oakland Tribu»ne, California — News Archives

About FACE, funds and staying alive

April 11, 2002 - Section: Local

THE FRONT YARD AND FENCE are invitations to come inside and find out what's going on. Fliers,
brochures and signs are posted everywhere. Information about child rearing, earthquake preparedness, -
parental stress. One flier is in Vietnamese, another in Cambodian. As | rang the bell at the Fruitvale
Appreciating Cultural Exchange (FACE) community center on Coolidge Avenue, a woman came up the
steps to get a brochure about a class she wanted to take. :

"Let's go in here where we both can sit down," said Gwen Jackson, FACE executive director. A retired
cook with gray dreadlocks and a smooth copper-colored complexion that belies her age, she has earned
the title of neighborhood dynamo. She led me through the front room where dresses and coats hung on
a clothes rack. The organization collects donated clothing and gives it away. It offers art classes, cookie
baking, after-school tutoring and sewing classes for children.

FACE is about as grassroots as an organization can get. It grew out of an effort to reclaim Nicol Park, the
little square of open space that is the only park in the area. Blighted and overgrown, it belonged to the
drug dealers. '

"The street was an open drug market," said Jackson. Eventually, the community couldn't stand it
anymore. Neighbors established a phone tree and whenever they saw dealers out in cars or on bicycles,
they called each other and the police. In 1998, they adopted the park.

"It was something we all could do," Jackson explained.

At first it'was as simple as a group of grandparents going to sit in the park. And then the children began
to come. "The little kids couldn't believe they could use the park. It had never been a park for them."

The adults even asked the people selling drugs to help them keep the park clean. "People knew them.
Some of them were children of people in the neighborhood. They were pretty cooperative. Even drug
~ dealers want a clean park for their children.”

Neighborhood artists helped the children paint a mural at the park, and the Trust for Public Land funded
its restoration. Last year, the spruced-up little park, complete with a bright yellow, green and blue jungle
gym and newly planted grass, was officially reopened.

It sounds like an urban neighborhood story with a fairy-tale ending. And most urban neighborhood
stories don't have fairy tale endings. The victim of the city's first homicide of the year was shot across

the street from the park. Jackson worries the park could revert to what it was.

"We have to keep programs going in the park and keep it alive. If we leave it alone, it will go back. It
wouldn't take much for that to happen." :

EXHIBIT E




On April 20, FACE will sponsor an Earth Day celebration. Neighbors will clean the perimeters of the park,
including the streets leading to Fruitvale Elementary School. They will finish up with a party in the park
with food cooked by neighbors and singing and dancing performed by neighborhood children.

And there's always another challenge. The funding that covers the rent at the FACE center runs out this
month. Jackson and the FACE advisory board have been fund-raising and looking for other sources of
funding. _ _

"I've written seven grants and haven't gotten a yes yet," she said. Expressing the classic diltemma of
nonprofits, Jackson said grant writing and fund ralsing have taken her away from program
development."What I've discovered is you can't really do this with volunteers. You need a staff."

Jackson emphasized the neighborhood campaign is not a one-woman operation."The biggest thing | did
was to be consistent. To just keep on it and keep on it."

The park and the neighborhood children have become her mission.

"The kids are not exposed to things. That's why they go wrong. There is so little for them to experience. |
think as old as | am, | am just realizing what | can do in my life. How many young people will die before
they realize their own potential? Or go to jail? They know they can do more than what people are
expecting them to do," she said. '

Jackson pulled out a picture of a smiling girl in a bright green skirt."She made that herself. She was very
proud," Jackson said. ‘

As she walked me to the door, she saw a bag of coffee mugs and glass containers someone had left on
the porch while we were talking inside. "Oh, look what they donated. This will be very nice for
someone." .

Brenda Payton's column appears on Tuesdays, Thursdays and Sundays.
(c) 2002 The Oakland Tribune. All rights reserved. Reproduced with the permission of Media NewsGroup,
Inc. by NewsBank, Inc. '
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Nicol Park — History of the park’s name
March 2019

Overview:

Nicol Park is located at the Northwest corner of Coolidge Ave. and Nicol Ave.

The purpose of this research was to ascertain whether Nicol Park was specifically named in honor or
memory of a particular family or person, in erder to determine whether we could proceed with our
proposal to change the park’s name. The research process included phone conversations with local
historians and several hours at the Oakland History Room looking at Block Books, Directories and
newspaper microfiches.

Conclusion;

Nicol Park is not itself directly named after a family or individual. As recently as 1910, there was a
residence on the corner that now contains the park. When the park was created, it was evidently just
given the name of the street it was on, for convenience.

Research Detail

The primary source for local history is a booklet by “Quentin”, an Oakland librarian, now deceased. Per
City Historian Betty Martin and also local historian Dennis Evanosky, that booklet has no definitive
“information about Nicol Ave. It merely states that it is, “a street in the de Wolf tract, 1891” (|e a part of
the tract filed by William de Wolf in 1891).

In subsequent conversation with local historian Dennis Evanosky, he speculated a Nicol family at some
point owned and maybe lived on that nearby hill. But he advised there is no mention of them in the
1870 or 1880 census data. This was later re-affirmed by our direct research in city directories and block
books going back to the 19* ¢ at the Main Library. The “Nicol Tract” appears in 1900 and 1910
information, but no specific family or owner could be found. Dennis Evanosky reported that he had
done extensive research into the de Wolfe family hoping to find someone with a first- or family-name of
“Nicol”, to identify origin similar to Capp or Schuyler or Alice streets, but was unable to find anything.

Our direct research in the City Room of Oakland’s Main Library included review of Direétories and Block
Books going back to the 19* century

e Directories: 1870, 1875, 1910 — these listed persons with the last name of “Nicol” but, as noted
previously by local historians, there was no visible connection between any of them and this
property.

»  Block Books: 1889 (Brooklyn), 1899, 1902, 1908, 1910

»  Newpaper records searching on “Nicol” going back to the 19" century.

The Block Books indicate that residences stood on the site of the current Nicol Park (see image below).
While Nicol Avenue was in existence in 1899, there was no park until sometime in the 20% century. it
seems fairly clear that the Park was simply given the name of its street, and the origin of its name is
equally murky. One block book mentions a “Nicol Tract”, however there is no Nicol of that era who
shows up or could be connected to this area as owner of this land. And any mention of individuals
named Nicol did not proliferate, i.e., there is no indication that any family remains who might be
connected, even to Nicol Avenue.
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The 1910 Block Book
showing residences at
the site of the current
Nicol Park, at the
corner of Nicol &
Peralta (now Coolidge)
Avenues
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Testimonial for Renaming Nicol Park for Gwen Jackson
November 2018

To Whom it May Concern:

I am writing to request that Nicol Park be renamed for my friend and community leader Gwen J ackson. I
believe that this is a fitting honor and recognition for a woman who was truly committed to making our
community richer for the children living here.

[ first met Gwen 2 years ago, after her friend Joanne Jasson asked for support at a community meeting, I
agreed to help transport Gwen and her supplies each summer Saturday morning to Nicol Park for the
children’s summer camp that she and Joanne hosted.

Each Saturday morning for the past 2 summers, I would arrive at Gwen’s Nicol St. apartment, and load
Gwen, her walker, and her supplies into my van. I'll never forget the first time Gwen walked out of her
apartment with her little crock pot full of hotdogs she’d cooked for the children. Her dedication and
enthusiasm were clear in that moment. Each week, she provided snacks, art supplies, games, and most
importantly, love for the children in the neighborhood. :

. These past 2 summers, up until the day she died, I witnessed Gwen’s devotion to the children of our
community. The last time I helped her up to the park, there were several toddlers playing there as we
arrived. Gwen was so delighted to see them. She spoke to the children and their parents so lovingly as I
set up the art supplies and snacks for the day. As I made to leave, she opened her arms and said, “Come
give me a hug!” I did, of course, and as I walked away, she thanked me for my help. Ileft feeling loved
and appreciated, as I did every Saturday after having time with Gwen.

She worked hard to get the planter boxes at Nicol Park rebuilt, and had grown many plants outside her
small apartment in anticipation of the day we could bring them to the park for children to plant.

Sadly, Gwen didn’t live to see the plants placed in the boxes, but on the first Saturday after her death, I

carried the plants to the park, where a group of 8 children were waiting for her. I explained to the

children that Gwen was gone, and that I had come to plant the flowers in her honor. The children asked

_ to help, and were delighted to hear me talk about her love for the community. “I miss her already,” said
one young girl. :

The floweis Gwen started are thriving in the new planter box. Ispeak to them every time I drive past the
corner park, and smile when I think of Gwen.

- Please do me and our community the favor of granting this request. Ican think of no more perfect way to
honor someone who lived her last day sharing her love with the children of her community.

Sincerely,
Austin Vaile
3320 Bona St.

Oakland, CA 94601
auvailel1@gmail.com
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Testimonials for Renaming Nicol Park for Gwen Jackson
Peralta Hacienda Board of Directors & S_taff

Ben Glickstein bglickstein@gmail.com ~ Oct 30, 2018

Member of Board, Peralta Haclenda

Gwen Jackson was a true-champion of the importance of parks and play in East Oakland. She -
transformed Nicol Park into a place that was all too rare in the city: a haven for children to play and feel
safe. She also blessed nearby Peralta Hacienda Park with the same effective leadership and vision. The
community knew Gwen as the true force behind a safe, clean Nicol Park. It would be a beautiful tribute
to her to rename the park in her honor. It would also send a message to other residents of Fruitvale that
locals who get involved for the betterment of the community are honored for their contributions,

bttt bbb b

Inshirah Berakah <inshirah@peraltahaclenda.org> - Oct 30, 2018

Education Program Director, Peralta Hacienda ’

I will never forget the day that | met Ms, Gwen, she was escorting Ben Glickstein, who is how board
president at Peralta Hacienda, into our neighborhood.  lived right around the corner from the Peralta
Haclenda on Salisbury. One afternoon, | happened to be getting something out of my car, and looked up
to see an elderly African-American woman with a walker, coming down the hill with a young white man,
as they approached they both greeted me warmly, and Gwen asked me if | had ever been into the
museum, To which | replied that | had not, they asked If | was intérested in participating in a.
neighborhood tour docent program. | had always loved history, and was on maternity leave from a
teaching job, so | had availability. | decided to take them up on the offer, and participate. Her dedication
to bringing more people form the community into the organization, paid off. Many of the people who
went through the training are still involved, and doing the work that she started. From my position as a
community tour leader, | went on to work with Peralta’s summer camp a few years later, and as the
director of educational programs full time this year! Peralta isn't just a job to all of us, its a really a big
diverse extended family, and Ms. Gwen was like a fairy godmother that day, strolling down my streeet
with her silver walker, handing out blessings to those who were ready to receive. Everytime | saw her
she made me laugh with her sharp wit, and she inspired me greatly with her committment to the
neighborhood. | want to do for others what she did for me, create a supportive space, for a community
that loves and looks out for one another.

~“Inshirah '

bbb

Dale Hagen hagendm@sprynet.com ~ Nov 7, 2018

Board Member, Friends of Peralta Hacienda Historical Park

- I met Gwen Jackson 20 years ago while assisting her with financial systems as the non-profit |
volunteered with was the fiscal sponsor for a youth programs grant she had garnered. While meeting
weekly on financial issues, | also had an opportunity to see the programs Ms. Jackson developed for
neighborhood youth. Sometimes she would be using her own experience, such as when she used her
fashion sense and sewing skills to teach fashion design, sewing, and the repair and repurposing of
donated clothing. Other times, she would identify a need in the community and seek out the resources
and volunteer expertise required, such as the computer lab she developed from used computers and
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student volunteers to provide basic computer training and computer access for students without
computers in thelr home. :

Mes. Jackson also served on the Board of Friends of Peralta Haclenda Historical Park and provided our
decision-making a stronger community focus, challenging us to expand the vision of our programs to
better connect with community members as both program participants and neighborhood leaders.

Her passion to help the youth of the community led her to re-animate Nicol Park, a small pocket park on
the corner of Nicol and Coolidge Avenues. From a weedy wasteland, Ms. Jackson began park clean-ups,
pushed for new play equipment, and organized regular children’s programs. These provided play
equipment along with her presence and neighborhood volunteers to make the park a safe space for
families to play and enjoy. '

Of the many people | have met in the Fruitvale community who have welcomed, impressed, or awed
me, Gwen Jackson is someone who readily comes to my mind when | am looking for inspiration. Her
determination to improve her community and help young people, along with her willingness to step out
on the path towards a goal without necessarily having the route all planned out in detail or all resources
already in hand, Inspires me when | am approaching a daunting task. She provided me with a valuable
living lesson on the power of persistence and a courageous heart.

| can think of no more fitting tribute to Ms. Jackson’s life and impact on her community than to re-name
the park she brought back to life after her. | support renaming Nicol Park to Gwen Jackson Park

Sincerely, Dale Hagen
Board Member, Frie_nds of Peralta Hacienda Historical Park

N YR SR

Holly Alonso - hollyalonso@earthlink.net — Nov 8, 2018
Executive Director Friends of Peralta Hacienda Historical Park

“We are all part of something larger.” Gwen Jackson

First encounters:

| first met Gwen at Nicol Park. A neighbor at Peralta Haclenda had told me about Gwen, who had a
youth program up the block, and that | had to meet her. To my amazement, she was voicing the very
premise that | was basing my work on at Peralta Haclenda, that knowing our history can transform our
community. She showed me Images of early Fruitvale’s houses and dalries, | had never seen these
images—she had done research on neighborhood history at the Oakland History Room In the main
library. She found it fiberating to see beyond the probiems that surround us in the present, to realize
that “We are all part of something larger.” From that moment on, we became friends and colleagues,
and she supported me in all that | was doing at Peralta Hacienda.

Nicol Park:

Gwen had staked out Nicol Park, a pocket park on Coolidge, which had been taken over by drug dealers,
making it inhospitable for children. Day after day, just sitting there, with her provisions for kids’
activities, she lasted out the drug dealers and they left. She would laugh about how this gentle but
persistent approach defeated them. But the striking thing Is, she never condemned them and said she
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had been just like them at one point in her life. Nicol Park became the focus of her goal to help the
community. »

Background:

Gwen had a legacy of poverty and lack of education from her childhood in the South, one of a family of
fifteen children. All her adult life, she had hidden the fact that she couldn’t read and earned her living as
a cook. She pursured an Associate of Arts degree at Laney College to develop her extraordinary design
abilities, especially with fabric, which again, didn’t require literacy.

Then, in her sixties, responding to a flyer for adult literacy, she studied and became fully literate. She
immediately began writing grants to buy supplies for her youth programs. She became an avid reader.
She talked about often about how much the discovery of the world of books meant to her. She kept on
her door “Never, never, never, never, never give up,” adding two extra nevers to Winston Churchill’s
famous exhortation, She was an inspiration to me and to many others.

Collaboration with Peralta Hacienda:

After my initial encounter with Gwen, our Americorps VISTA volunteers Susan Fauman and Cassidy
Pucket helped Gwen with her program, and we saw each other often to talk about how to help youth in
the neighborhood.

Gwen became a board member at Peralta Hacienda, a voice that grounded discussions in neighborhood
concerns, yet soared with her unique imagination. She also helped launch our first educational programs
with me, coming day after day to paint and quilt with the children in the neighborhood.

She was a firm believer in the importance of the arts: That learning to express yourself through the arts
is crucial for kids who had been through trauma and were acting out, because they could express
themselves in non-violent positive ways. Doing arts activities builds skills; because their art is praised, it
gives them confidence, creating a positive feedback loop. :

After 9/11, Gwen created a huge-quilt with the children that we exhibited at Peralta Hacienda’s
museum. it was a source of pride to all the youth who had painted their own original squares. She led
Story Circles with me for the kids that were hilarious and fun, animated by her own wonderful sense of
humor and her positive encouragement of the children. The way she related to the children, and offered
direct, simple activities outdoors in the midst of where the children congregated, was a model for me
ever after.

Oral History Exhibits:

We interviewed Gwen for our first community stories exhibit, Faces of Fruitvale, and her story was
shown on a photopanel for the opening of the Peralta House Museum of History and Community to the
public in 2001. In her art, which as reproduced on the panel, she made clear the way The Middle
Passage on the slave ships lives on in the present in the minds of African Americans. The was a
revelation to many who saw the exhibit.

She participated in other public oral history activities at the park, leading the way in breaking the silence
about her own childhood sexual abuse, overcoming intense personal pain in doing so, and helpingto
create a safe space for others to tell their stories. In her subsequent work with youth, Gwen was
particularly aware of and concerned with young girls that showed signs that they were victims of sexual
abuse, .
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Gwen participated in three oral history interviews, leaving her mark on the historical record. The two
later interviews were with StoryCorps, one in SF and one at Peralta Hacienda. The last interview was for
Peraita Hacienda’s exhibit on the effects of incarceration In Fruitvale, entitle “Home and Away.” Again,
Gwen contributed a unique account, telling about her repeated incarceration in the South, and the cycle
of poverty, where you were forced to have a “hustle” to survive because decent employment was
barred to African Americans, and then were incarcerated for those illegal activities. She was in and out
of jail more than 20 times, starting in her early teens, She described the Jalls populated by only black
-women who had to pick cotton during the day—"just like slavery,” as she said. Once, a police officer let
her go in exchange for sex in the back of the police car. She was 14 at the time, .” She made a collage
about her prison experience, particularly focusing on women’s experience in prisons, that was exhibited
. as part of the exhibit, and is held in our archives and will soon be available online.

That Gwen overcame stigma and shame to share painful stories for the benefit of athers, and for our
understanding of our shared history, is one of the most important contributions she made. She worked
with Jonathan Hoffman, a sociologist from UC Berkeley who came to Peralta Hacienda in connection
with his research on African American neighborhoods that had become more diverse, He and Gwen
became colleagues and friends. Hé made a documentary film about her work in the community and her .
personal journey, called “Unfinished Business: The Lives of Gwen.” He flew her to Washington DC for
Obama’s inauguration. We showed the film at Peralta Hacienda last year, followed by a wonderful @ and
Af/community dialogue, and it was also shown at a festival of African American documentary films.

Gwen’s constant refrain was that she had more to tell. At the end of her life, until the very last week,
she was still working to record her history on a small Zoom microphone | had provided for her to do this.

Disability:

Gwen's story was also one of disability. She injured her knee as a teen, and no health care was available
to poor African Americans in the South at that time. This meant that Gwen spent her whole adult iife
disabled. She walked with difficulty, using a rolling gait to compensate for the knee that had been
injured, using a cane or a walker. In her mid-seventies, she finally had a knee operation that repaired the
knee, and had a very difficult psychological adjustment at that late date, She questioned how her whole
life had been limited by the disability, yet could have been fixed if the resources had been there in
soclety. It was the only time | have seen Gwen undergoing. a real psychological crisis—but she came out
of it with renewed energy, and soon was at Nicol Park again, offering arts activities and food to
neighborhood young people, and keeping the park safe,

Community Center:

Gwen's exceptional generosity extended to people of alf cultures and races. She gave her warmth and
energy to all of Fruitvale’s diverse young people. She founded F.A.C.E. (Fruitvale Appreciating Cultural
Exchange) to embody that idea, and

started her own educational and communlty center near the corner of Nicol and Coolidge, with Peralta
Hacienda’s help as fiscal agent.

She offered ali kinds of educational activities, and brought in many resources for the kids. The
community center was exactly what the neighborhood needed, but sustained funding was hard to find,
and it had to close after a few years.

Gwen also advised me on an National Endowment for the Arts grant to Peralta Hacienda to research the
role and potential of traditional arts in the community. True to form, she had a lot to offer| She had
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started a co-op years before to sell traditional arts by people in the community called Many Hands from
Many Lands. She filled me in about that experience, and we hope to start such a co-op at Peralta
Hacienda which brings traditional artist together, '

Character : _

Finally, Gwen's character is the key. She was so positive, so warm, so loving and giving, so brilliant and
imaginative, and so searching and open. The seeds she sowed continue to spread far and wide, through
all the programs at Peralta Hacienda that she helped with; her board service; the film, oral histories and
exhibits that tell her story; the experiences that youth had in her community center; through turning
Nicol Park around and making it a haven for neighborhood youth, and through each personal interaction
she carried out. It seems fateful that the last time | saw Gwen was the day before she died, in Nicol Park,
doing exactly what | had seen her doing when | met her for the very first time 19 years earlier: Leading
kids’ activities at Nicol Park. To name Nicol Park after Gwen Jackson is the absolute right thing to do, and
wilt inspire others to follow her outstanding example.

If you have any further questions, please call or email me (email is quickest!):
Holly Alonso, Executive Director
Friends of Peralta Hacienda Historical Park

Cell: 510-833-1171
Email: hollyalonso@earthlink.net
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Projéct Title: MacArthur Corridof A
 Interviewee: éwen Jéckson
‘E:Interviewer: Katy Kax;ﬁnski
Int'érvié;vi Date(s): April 22,2004

Location: 2811 Nicol Ave, Oakland CA .

. The Interviewee: Gwen Jackson is a long-tlme Oakland resident and act1v1st.
She was born in Atlanta in 1937. She went to work at a young age without
finishing high school. She moved to Oakland in 1964 where she worked doing
housekeeping, cooking, sewing and yard work until an old i injury made it
necessary to stop doing physical labor and pursue an education. With limited
reading ability and math skills she enrolled in the fashion design at Laney
College, and then College of Alameda. During this time she was active in the
Black Student Union on campus and their activities in Oakland. After: o
graduating with an AA degree, without having received a high school’ ‘degree,
she participated in political activities and community organization with the

" Oakland Community Organization, the Oakland Reconciliation Forum, and
volunteering to work at the polls. She took classes at the Women’s Business
Initiative, but unable to follow her dream of owning a fashion design
business, she developed her skills to work with the community and children.
She started her work with children at the St. Paul Church of God in Christ day
care center, but expanded her own activities to include more commumty
outieach. Her desire to help the community and the children led her to open a
community center with a generous grant from the County Supervisor’s office,
found a commumty organization Fruitvale Appreciating Cultural Exchange,
and participate in a neighborhood group of grandmothers raising their-
grandchildren. When doors were closed on Gwen Jackson because limited
education, she found her skills in community work, and she found her calhng
working w1th local children. :

The Interviewer: Katy Kaminski is an anthropology student at Mills éollege
She is working on a senior thesis on the topic of race, class, gentrlflcatlon, and
advertising in her West Oakland neighborhood. ;
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- Interview description:

Interview content: o

Recording notes:
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Interview 1, Side 1
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Gwen Jackson, interviewee

- GWENJACKSON - TRANSCRIPT INTERVIEW 04/22/2004

OAKLAND LIVING HISTORY PROGRAM
INTERVIEW TRANSCRIPT |

This is Katy Kaminski interviewing—
Gwen Jackson. : |

It's April 22”, 2004 and we are in her héﬁze on Nicol Avenue, ;

First off—to give us an idea of who you are now, can you briefly talk ébout wheﬁ
and where you were born? | %
I was born in Atlanta, Georgia in 1937 on the 3" of October, and I left there mI 1964, and
I came here and—let’s see, I'm trying ‘;o—wéw, that’s a long time to think back that far. |
Actually; I lived on—when 1 came here I lived on Seminary in East Oa’kland——gcl'osé to

International Boulevard. My— I started working as a cook, which has been wliat Idid.

‘Domestic work and cooking. That’s what I did. So, maybe you could ask me scf)me

questions, if you need anything,

Okay. What did you know about Oakland before you moved here?
I didn’t know anything about Oakland. I'd never heard of it befbré. I came out ;here_ with

aman.

Was your move well planned?

.No. No, he came and I came behind him. It wasn’t really planned. So, I mean was it

(static)—might as well. It was something different.

Did you know you were going to live on Seminary Avenue?
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. i
No. None of that. No. None of that. But his parents was living in that area. So, vs:/e-—that’s

why we went there because his parents lived there.
I'd like 1o tolk a little bit more about the neighborhood when you first moved. i
This neighborhood? | ‘ : (-
No. Seminary Avenue.

Seminary Avenue? : ‘ ‘

.
What was it like? ,
What was that area like at that time? Hmmm. In fact, I think about it sometimesé when I-
pass there—that actually on the corner is Seminary and International Boulevarci it was a
liquor store, and they sold a lot of different stuff, but mostly it was liquor. And gthe house
that we lived in was right behimi the liquor store. So, it was really close to the c%omer.
An(i, you know, it really wasn’t as bad—I don’t remember it being bad. You kn:ow, the
people—i didn’t— that during that time there were as many homeless people on the
street. You know, people hariging ardund—like they are now. You know, peopl:e that are
hdmeless, with the carts and things. I didn’t see any of that then. Come to thinkf ofit. I
hadn’t thought about that. And, it was preity fri_endly. You know, the people in %the
neighborhood was pretty friendly. And, you know, I just, as I said—1I came out ffollowing’
a man. And worked until—which really is not very interesting, you know—justf ordinary
stuff, you know. '

And—Ilet’s see—about all— and then when I left Seminary, I-—where éiid I

move? Eighth Avenue. Eighth Avenue—that was Eighth Avenue. Anyway, I Stz;ayed over
there quite a few years. I went to school over there. I started going to Alame:da?E College.
Actually, I never even went to high school. I went to elementary school in Atlaélta, and I
graduated from elementary school. And I never—I went to high school, but I di;dn’t like
school because I couldn’t read, and I couldn’t—didn’t know numbetrs and s'tuffl; So, I just
dropped out of school and did something that I liked, and then that was work, vahich 1
knew how to do. So, I went to work. You know and, what Amy mama had taught;§ me was
how to work—you know, how to do a good job cleaning and cooking and all of‘ that. So

that’s what my skill was when I left home and it was—I was, about like, twelvc;E year‘s old,
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but I was a big girl as always. I could pass for older than that. And, coming out here was
just—ah—kind of like— something else to do that I hadn’t did—you know—arid that’s
what I did. I just did it. I didn’t have any children or anything like that. And me IEand my
family wasn’t very close, you know. So it didn’t matter that I—you know—I wouldn’t
think about staying around them because we wasn’t close anyway. So, anyway, éyou
know, and I had already done some traveling between that time to visit my famﬁily in
other places——]ike New York, Chicago, Boston, stuff like that. And I knew I di<;in’t like
those places. I mean, I liked them but New York was too cold in the wmtertlme And1l
never forget, when I left there it was June and it was still ice on the ground. I thought that
was the awfulest thing. And I said no—I have—I know why people say, “I lovei to visit
New York and not stay there.” So you need to have some money to live nice in éNew
York, you know, because it’s so cold that everything’s so extreme, you know. ;

So, and out here it was—used to be—kind of mild mannered, and the rent was
reasonable and stuff like that. But, actually, the house that I had on Eighth Avenue is
where when I started to school—‘cause I started going to Alameda College beepuse I
decided that I wanted to go get my GA and—ah—my high school diploma, but %When I
went to Alameda College, I didn’t—I found out that a lot of stuff that I didn’t kEnOW that I
wished I did knew, and that I really couldn’t do math and do English and all of :that
because I didn’t have the basics to de it, So, I—when I finished Alameda Colleige, T'had a
Grade Point 3.5, but all of my grade points came through the arts, you know. I lfnajored in
fashion design—doing clothes. And so, we had to take a lot of art classes and siewing
classes. And so, I got out of there with my AA because of that, you know, because I still
don’t know math and English like I would like to.

But I do plan to—since the computer came along, I know quite a lot more than1
did—because of the computer. And—but I would definitely intend to get my GA—I
would like to. I was just looking at something. They was showing of some stuff in the
paper about the SAT test. You know, and I was reading some of the questions that they
had in there, you know, and I was just thinking—i said, “Wow!”—you know beeuuse
they was just like questions, questions to—where you have to figure one——figu}e the
answer to something, you know. And, that’s reading, you know. You have to know how -
to read and understand reading to do that. '

But now at this age, I know what my problem is, you know, as far as domg it.
But like now, I enjoy working with the community and working with the klds,.and I
enjoy just being able to be there for the young kids, you know. Because I th_mk that a lot

of the things that I went through as a young person that caused me not to be abje to read
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and those kind of things-—that my parents were illiterate, and they asked what t&ley taught
you. They taught you skills—you know—how to do things. So they couldn’t teaélch other
stuff, but they could teach you those things, and they did a good job at that. A

And so I never really learned and that’s why I said like now, if I can belany kind
of assistance to helping the young people get a better start—you know-—that ifi it is just
being there, just sitting up there in the park with them, you know, it’s good. So,! but I

' think that everything that happened to me then as a young woman and as a chlk;i andasa

teenager and all of that, had something to do with now. You know, because I d(ém’t think
that I would be here now if I hadn’t experienced that. And I feel like if I'd hacil-children
that I wouldn’t have the compassion for children—young people—that I do noviv,. You
know, because I’d probably be tired of them. People say, if you had children of ?your own,
you wouldn’t want to be bothered with them ‘cause they’re so much trouble. Bﬁt when
it’s somethlng—you know—-I know that it’s in my heart because it hurts me when Isee
something and I see it for me, you know—I see it because myself—I see myself in thata
long time ago. So, and like at the park up there, it just really hurts my heart that
somethmg——- that the kids get killed and they fight up there around the park. They haven’t
been dead in the park, but a few people around the park have got killed and Just some bad
things happening, you know and when I got involved in the community I wanteid to—we
was part of the Home Alert, which the Home Alert is—Do you know what the :Home |
Alert is?

Lt
s
'

- Idon't. Actually, I had some questions—more questions about when you lived at

Seminary. : 3

Yes. Okay. You can do that. Well, I mean, when I’m talking, will the woman ec?iit it, or
i
whatever she do when she transcribe it?

I'm gonna pause il. [recorder is stopped; interview resumes]Okay, you were ta:l,king

about your neighborhood here, now—how it's been. Thinking back to when yozjt.lived on
Seminary Avenue, do you remember kids fighting and any violence? Do you rer:nember

anything like that happening?

No. I don’t remember anything like that happening in that time that I stayed ovér there. I

stayed over there about—I guess, maybe, about three years. Maybe a little longfer, we

" stayed there. And then we left there and went to—we moved to 13™ Avenue and then it
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begins to see a difference in—like—they way—like—something like they miglflt have
now—Iike a lot of apartment complexes—stuff going on—you know. And thené I began
to hear things about the different apartment complexes—you know. And then tléley———you
begin to hear about people saying that other people—like—low income and théfy’re |
bringing the property values down—you know. And the people that llved———that didn’t
have apartments, you know like, say maybe the older people, that’s either selllng their -
home or moving or whatever, They—usually they would start—would build a qomplex
or build something else so that they could house more than just one family..So ‘fhen it
started. I remember it being more visible. Now I’'m not saying that it didn’t hapbcn down
there, but I just didn’t see it. Because at the time when I was just coming in thefé I was
absorbed with a whole lot of things—you know-—that went on that T was dealmg with

during that time. So, I didn’t see this. If this was happening, I didn’t see it. .
|
Okay. So, when you lived on Seminary then, did you know your neighbors? Weré‘é you
involved with the community? X
Did I know my neighbors? Ahh—yes, 1 knowed them. I didn’t get involved in t:he
community. I was mostly working and the neighbors—say, maybe a block around, I
knew them. I mean I knew them—some of them—by just waving at them and sfometimes
we would have a party on the weekend. And they would come. So, yes, I knew gthem

pretty well.

And then, what about when you moved to 13" Avenue then. Did you know peop§lé more or
less? :

No, I didn’t know the people more or less. We were just lookmg for a place for: ourselves,
and that’s why we moved over there. In fact, it was a friend of his mother that had a
place. So, we moved over there. '
Now, you talked about the apartment complexes. Can you tell me a little more ézbout
those? '

Ahh—the apartment complexes. Ahh, actually, one of them—1 think a couple of them—I
went—they were kind of like the one that I remembered hearing something aboiut first,

which is about a block from where I was living at. And I would hear things—y(é)u
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know—about things happening—people gettihg shot and they were selling drugfs, and
they were just even_‘;hey would—ahh—knock peoples’ ddors down—you kno;w-—to go
in and rob people or to abuse them or whatever. And I would hear things like thfaxtf—you
know. Actually, I was just saying, I thought about that—that happened to me atia place

where I was staying at.

When you were living down there on 13" Avenue?

No. Actually, this was later. Actually, me and the fellow that I came out here w:ith broke
up. So I was looking for me a place, and this place that I moved in—it happene(;i to me.
Someone in the building—there was just a lot of apartments, and they said low ;i_ncome
people. And they broke into the people that lived there—some of the people thaft' lived

there— just beat the door down, and I was in there when they did it.

Where was this? : Z
This was on Grove. Well, it was first Grove Sfreet which is Martin Luther Kin%, I
think—now. And where is that corner at? That was Grove, But no, you know——l think,
that’s kind of far away—that’s not it. That’s not Fruitvale. So, maybe that’s kmd of far
away. That’s past Grand Avenue. I mean—on the other side of Grand Avenue—,that time,
when our relationship was over that I found a place on my own and that’s how i got over
there. But I ended up coming back over here—you know—Iater—to find a placfe. In fact,
the police told me, “Lady, you heed to get out of this place. It’s not for you.” Yéou know.

~ Let’s see, where did I go after that? Now, you want to—I’m trying to tl:iink of

some more things. :

|
Oh, can I ask you more questions about going to school and living on 13" Averéue?
Going to school-—hmmm. Well actually, I didn’t go to school. You mean, to elementary

school or later school‘7

* Oh, no, when you were at College of Alameda.

When I went to College of Alameda? That was back in 1970.
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KK:  And you were living on 13" Avenue? No? |
GJ:  No. |
KK:  Where were you living at that time?

Gl I don’t remember.
KK:  Oh. That's okay. , '

GJ: Tl remember. I’ll think about it. | know the places that I’ve lived, but I'm trymg to
~ remember where I was living in 1970. I think it was 8™ Avenue. :

KK:  Eighth Avenue. Okay.
Gl: Yes. | '
KK:  And that was immediately after you had lived on Seminary Avenue. 3
GJ:  No.
KK:  No.

GJ: | No. That was after this place where I moved on Grove Street, I think; Grove Stréeet? Yes,
it was after that, because I remember that I moved two or three times after I bro?ke up
with this man. And they were just like transition places until I got this place over here,
and that’s when I was deciding what I was going to do. I was going to go back ’éd school
and all of that. And then, this place—the rent was cheap. Seventy dollars a mor;th it
was—for a two bedroom apartment. That was good. It don’t happen like that any more.

And, actually, yes—that’s when I started going back to school and durmg that
time, and I started—I have always liked clothes. I have always have liked to do-thmgs—
to take things and make them over—you know. I like—1 don’t know—I guess I got that '
from my mother because that’s what she did, and she did it out of necessxty You know,
she used to take things and make them over again and all that, and I hated it beg:ause I
didn’t like—because the kids used to say, “Home made stuff.” And I just took up that
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habit from her. And I didn’t know, when I went back to school, that’s what—I iust
slipped into that—you know. And I found out that it was something that I liked:

So you were sewing before you decided to go back to school?
Oh, yes. Oh, yes. I was sewing. |

Was that a job that you took?

No. Well, it was kind of like a job—like, I would do some alterations for peoplze, you
know—things like that. But in a job in a place? No. Not at a business. No. I jus;t did it on
my own. Because I could do it, and people knew I could do it. So they would as:k me to
do it for them. So, that way it was a job or a side part-time job, because my—tlie skilis
that I had is what I had got from my mother, which was cooking and cleaning aind doing
the gardening and all that stuff. Those were the skills that I had. And so I—ahh?'—

Well, what was it like to be workmg asa cook or a maid or doing sewing? What was that
kind of job like at that time?

Well, it wasn’t too cool. It wasn’t—ahh—I think what helped me get over it mo:re was the

 fact that my parents—my mother had tanght me how to work and how to like vsf'hat Ido

and do a good job at it, and it didn’t matter what it was. So, that is what made nfle never
been fired off a job, and—but the jobs have—some of them have been—I mearil, the
communication with the people that you work with—they haven’t all been gooa' but I
have always known how to—like my momma used to say that you can get—what did she
say?-—that you can get more flies with honey than you can wnth—-somethmg hke that.
And I always thought about that and the fact that being—that you can get more; (from
people by being sweet, than by being bitter and I just took that from her. You k;a,ow, that
she was actually a person that everybody liked her in the neighborhood, you knfow. And
they would just come, and she’d be sitting out on the porch or at the window, aild they
would just come and just sit there and talk to her—you know. I used to hate thaft, too,
because everybody wanted to talk to her, you know. I couldn’t talk to her. Ihated that.
But, actually, I’'m turning into her. I’'m turning into my mama. ;

Well, that can 't be a bad thing. '
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Gl
[telephone rings; recorder paused; interview resumes].

- What was that?

No. It’s not a bad thing. It’s not a bad thing, No, it’s not. y

When did you decide you wanted to go back to school? ;
Well, I had been wanting to go all along. I had been wanting to go back to schoé)l. But, |
have always been—Ilike—afraid, because I was afraid that I couldn’t pass the teists or
whatever and at Alameda, they told me that I didn’t have to take ahy tests. Andg so, I just
went. And 1had been putting it off for a long time. I couldn’t think that I could ;do itand
work too, and all of that, and so I found out all about programs where I could g%:t help.
And then, my health started to deteriorate. I had got an old injury—aloxflg time
ago, when I was sixteen. I got an old injury. And it began to limit what I did—lzike
standing up cooking and all of that stuff like that. So, I got some assistance thrc:n_xgh rehab

to retrain myself, And so, they helped with that.

i
1
|
i
!
i
!

|

Rehabilitation. Where they rehab—you know. I call it rehab. It’s kind of like wéhat they
do now for people who have drugs and people who have disabilities, and thingé;i You

know, they try to reprogram what you have learned so that you can be able to gfet some
other kind of job. N

|
)
So, is it through the state or the government?

i

The state. It’s through the state. Yes, through the state. Through—here—that vx?'as after I

I

got here. I didn’t do that before I came to California.
Why did you choose College of Alameda?

Well, actually, it choosed me. I was going to Laney before.

Okay. So, you first went to Laney College? Is that what you said?
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- out there. So, I was one of the group that went out there.

I went to Laney College. Actually, I had been trying to fit in to other places. I vélent to
night school while I was working, at Berkeley. What do they call it? Berkeley Eé)vening
School, or something like that—taking sewing. And I went there for a while, atid then I
went to—ahh—where did I—what dther place I went to—I can’t remember, buit it was—
like evening classes after school. And I also—I decided that I wanted to take the whole
thing after I found out that they said that they would help me. And so, that’s wﬁen I
enrolled in Laney. I knew that they had an extensive design program, which I had
checked out. And I started going there. And then, Alameda—they was just bulldmg the
colleges out there in Alameda, and they wanted to take the fashion arts departn:ient from
Laney and take it to Alar_heda. So, that’s why I went with them. T hey choosed r:he to go
|

And it was really a good experience, because—like I said, I had only wgent to
elementary school as a girl and that was really bad, because I had a speech impfediment
and I couldn’t read, and it was really bad. It was a bad experience. So, when I vilent back |
to Alameda, it was really good. I'really did enjoy being in school.- And then I st?arted
getting involved in the community—the Black Student Union, and I volunteere%d for the
Black Panther Party and other kinds of organizations—cultural organizations. And~
ahh— P

Were you working at the time?

I was doing part-time work. Yes. I was doing part-time work. I was working hkle———- -
through someone I met at the school that had a little shop, and I was doing som:e. work for
her—like sewing and staying in the shop while she would go places, and we goit to be
friends and stuff like that. , i

i

And that was someoﬁe that you had met through school.
Through school.

Good luck. |
| |
Yes, because she was kind of like me, only she had—we was about the same agie, but she
had went—she has her vision together more. She had been working on it, and sfo she had

rented this little place on Market Street. And so, that’s how I got involved withgher.
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Ahh—can I ask you a little bit more about your student activities?
At Alameda? - o ]

Yes.Yes. Well, what sort of—what were the first activities that you got involved with when

you first started?” o ' i

. : |
The first activity I got involved with there was— let’s see—it was actually the Black
Student Union—the Alameda Black Student Union.

And was this in 19707
. |

It was in 1970 or ’71. I’'m not sure—1’1] keep thinking about that. I’m not too su:re, butI
think it was 1970. Yes. Okay. No—no, no, no, no, no. Yes, that’s right—1970. (gi}bd, all
these years—they just seem to—and when you start trying to think about it, youi know.

Oh, that’s true.

What did you with them? What sort of activities were they doing?

Well, actually, they were concerned with the Black activities at the school. They did
outreach in the community. We did fondraising for the Black Panther Party. Thé feed
the—what did they call it? I forget what the—to feed the hungry—the breakfasti i)rogram
that the Black Panthers had during that time, and we’d raise money for that, andl we
would go and buy food, and take it to the Black Panther Party office. And, just fhings
like—we had a—Black Renaissance, over there, which I partlmpated in. In fact, I was the
coordinator of the Black Student Union at that time. And we planned the first event that
they had at Alameda College. Hmm. I forgot about that. And we called it the B}ack,
Renaissance, and we had people, and kids and all of that—that had did artwork gand just
had them brought it to the student lounge, and we had a big food and all of that. | My
brother cooked the food and all of that for it. And it was really the ﬁrst time that I’'ve

been experiencing somethmg like that. No, it wasn’t easy ‘cause I had a fashlon show at

Laney, they had a fashion show there. | |

i

[Doorbell rings] 5
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[tape is paused; Interview resumes].

KK:

Gl:

Gl

Gl:

i

|

So, when you got involved with the Black Student Union, was that your ﬁrst—sqrt of—
community involvement? :

Yes, other than that fashion show that I was involved in and that was a communéity, I
mean that was a Laney —they had a—kind of like a event booked. It was a mus:ical
thing, and they had a whole program and I was just involved in the program. Ac:tually,
one of my friends that I knew, she was organizing if. She was also a singing entértainer
She was going to school there too. So she organized it and we had a fashion show and
that is how I got involved in that. So, and then I found out I was going to Alameda And I
think—yes—I think that was the first time that I had began to get involved in the
community.

! |
You said that you had done outreach work, was that just the fundraising? i
| :
|

The fundralsmg and also—ahh—like, when we would volunteer to work at dlfﬁerent
events that that organization has that we believed was a good cause. The Black Panther
was one of them at that time. And we would volunteer to do outreach and we W(;)I.lld try to
get the young people to go to school and to do—Ilike, reading—you know, and tio
volunteer. But whatever the Black Panther Party and other organizations that—i)ut, we—
the Black Panther Party and the Black Student Union, which they had things—-—tfhey had
things going on in the school, like tutoring—that people needed—special help a!nd stuff
like that. They did things like that. I'm trying to remember some of the other thmgs that
we d1d

Do you remember any of the organizations that the Black Student Union suppor, ted?

Where did you do your volunteer work? i

I did it at—actually, it was at the Black Panther’s building that they had, which !‘was in
East Oakland? I think it was close to International Boulevard and 25, I think——gclose to
that. Oh wow, I remember that. : '
And we would go over there and do whatever we needed to do—tutor siomeone
or play with kids. They had child care for the people that were working in the !
organization and going out and doing things. And we would take care of the kld‘S and

stuff like that. Just things that we could do. It wasn’t no lot of political stuff, yo;h know. It
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was just basic stuff. And, ahh—and they were doing a lot of things, you know. E} don’t
know whether you know about the Black Panther Party, but they were very invzolved
with politics themselves, and we were just involved in their domestic part of it. iWhich
were like feeding the kids, and like when they would place where—we would hiave time
to give them their lunch in the morning you know. Give them they breakfast in J(he
morning give them a lunch or something like that. Just stuff like that, but we wz!;sn’t
involved in the head of the political party, you know, like some of the stuff the)iE were

doing in Sacramento, and a lot of stuff like that.

~

KK:  How did you feel like the community felt about these things that you were doing

GJ:  Well, I don’t think that they—I don’t there was—I think the community— becajise what

we were doing was—at that time was very-— it was controversial because it was giving
the Black Panther Party-— giving them clout by what they were doing. And so, the people
in the city and actually even the FBI, you know because they was the most wanted They
was up as the most wanted, you know. And they wanted to suppress the Black Panther
Party what they was doing because they felt that it was making too. many radnca;ls out of
black men, you know. They didn’t like that. So, that’s part was very controversiifﬂ. Just
being involved with them really was very controversial. As I said, people in the ‘ :
community knew that they were doing something good. So, the only kind of bad§i reaction
that we got was from out-of the community, as far as the Black Panthers was 001;1_<_:emed it
came from the system was the only thing that the static that we had was through:the
system. It wasn’t to us personally it was to the Black Panthers as a whole. We képt
feeding the kids, playing with the kids and all of that and nothing ever happenedi to us.
But we would hear on TV and stuff like that was the political stuff about them czilxrryin'g
guns and—you know, stuff like that—they’re going to Sacramento. You know; éll this
different stuff like that. They were involved in that part, but nobody——everybodyl in the
community that I know thought they were doing a good thing. l

KK:  How did you feel? How did you feel being involved with the group on this Ievel and
seeing on TV all the bad things that were— ’

GJ:  Ahh, I thought the same thing. You know, I thought it was good—1 thought that even
though there was some negative stuff happening through the process that they wefre going
through that sometlme you need to make static. You know, sometlmes~11ke-well it’s

not now, but a few years ago, I was thinking that—like, what they call the baby boomers
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[End of Tape 1, Side 1]

Side 2
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GJ:
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now, But back in that time when they were out there and they were—you know, {hey
were getting involved and they were closing up what they called picketing, s1ttmg-1n
And all, I mean«—everybody——al] the kids were involved, you know, with everythmg So
that could be one of the reasons why the community looked at the Black Panther;Party
different than the system did, because all the young people were involved. You k!now,
they didn’t care. You know, they didn’t care-about what the parents thought—-—the parents
had lied to them for years. They allowed them going through changes and over m San
Francisco. They were traveling. They’d get in what they call these little bugs——the busses
and they would just get together and go through you know—and support——supp(!)rt.
Actually, the—a lot of the Black Panther’s money came from those kids and thei:r pérents
that had money. It came from them because they supported what they was doing% In fact
they had one of the most expensive places that they lived in down by the lake. Ifi you go
around the lake there this tall building that was up there. They was living up thetf*é and
they in they penthouse. They were living in the penthouse. They didn’t want theim to get
killed so they wanted to put them up high so that it would take some time to get ;to them
so they could protect them. You know ‘cause it was. |

But, that was a lot. I mean people were involved with those things. There were a
lot of things going on. Now there’s a lot of things going on because of the war. One thing
that’s bad about this war is that people didn’t they didn’t wait as long as they wa%ni_ted to

get involved with the other one you know, cause the system kept trying to shut t;he people
" !

down. |
i

!
i
i
!
t

So, you were talking about your involvement with the Black Panther party and their .
community stuff that they did. |

I
|
i
1

- Their community organization?

Yes, you mentioned the breakfast for the kids, and you mentioned fundraising, cg:nd you

mentioned child care. Were there any other specific things you were doing for t':hem?
| |
No. No I don’t think so no. : |
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trying to think of—when did I start to get involved with the other organizations,

How long were you involved with them? l
I was involved as long as I was in school. So—like—three years.

—And after you were done with school, did you continue with them?
| E
Well, T thought—1 think there was a lot going on and I began to get involved—I'm
it"ha'c I was
involved with—like the Oakland Community Organization or the Oakland Congiliation
Forum that I went to? They were just like beginning and I went to the training ain:d stuff
becéuse I wanted to get involved with the community. But on the side, I was still trying
to create something‘ for a business. You know, I wanted to start my own business. That’s

what I wanted. . ‘ ,

Was this while you were in school?

While I was in school. While I was in school,

What were you wanting to do with your business?

I wanted to go into fashions. I wanted to do pattern-making. Actually, I wanted );to do
custom design. That’s what I wanted to do. 1 wanted to because a lot of people, like
myself, during that time, we were full figure and they didn’t have the styles thabi they
have now. So, that was why I started changing clothes around then because I wafs young
and the clothes that they had in my size in the store were too matronly. So I star;ted
changing them around, and that’s how I got hooked into that—redesign, I call jti—
redesign. And so, I wanted to custom make clothes for people, and I also wante& to
redesign things for people that they wanted to keep—like heirlooms—like I did a
woman—her mother had a fur coat, and she wanted to make a hat and a little sugl:e out of
it. So, it was something that was an heirloom that she could keep forever and gi\fre itto
her kids, if she wanted to. So, I wanted to do things like that, you know. So, thati’é what I

was basically doing a little bit of as I go and was still working and was still doinfg' part-

. |
time work in the convalescent hospital. So, here in the Fruitvale area really, And—ahb—
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Well, you just mentioned the hospital that you did part-time work with. When We!zre you
doing that? , o i o

- Well, actually, I did that before I started going to school. That’s where I was working at.

But after I started going to school, I started doing it part time. I was a chef-cook: ﬂlere
before. But then, after I started going to school, I just did part time, and so durin g that
time, that was the only time that I had to do—1 had to do part-time, you know, bfe;oause I

was going to school, and I was still trying to—let’s see was [ involved?—hmm.I’m

- trying to figure out—ahh—1I’m trying to figure out—ahh—where I—when did l"—ohm-

;’m trying to figure out when did I do—start doing these other—getting involve;d in these
community things that—hmm. Why don’t you ask me a question because I'm tr!?'ing to

think of something and it’s not coming. |
i

Okay. So, while you were in school you were taking classes, and you were wor@ing part

|
time, and you were involved with the Black Student Union. Correct? !
i

|
|
Umhmm. Yes. . |
What was it like to be doing all of those, all at once? * '

Well, I realiy_didn’t think anything of it. I just did it and—like, when we were gfoing
places and having picnics and things and the Black Student Union, they, we useéd to
ahh—there was always something going on and we could do outings with the ktlds or
feeding the kids or they would have the tutoring or something like that, which IEdidn’t do,

but they just took the kids, while the other ones did it, you know. And so... i :

And then, how did you fit your plans for business —how did that fit into'e‘verythjing you
were doing? :
Well, it didn’t seem to fit. It didn’t seem to fit at all. It was something that I reaily wanted
to do. Actually, I still want to do it, you know. But, actually, when I started worgk‘ing with
closer with the children in the community, and I began to get older that I began 51:0 find
satisfaction in being there for the children—trying to do something with them. ; ,

So, no, it didn’t fit. It still hasn’t fit, but still, I have training and I did aélot of

things that relate to fashion. I took business courses downtown—several of thetip. And
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they didn’t work because of my not having the skills I needed before You knov{/ that’s
when I began to find out that these things that I didn’t learn in elementary schoqﬂ and by
not going to high school, and actually, by not having my GED—that it was affelctlng
everything else that I did. So, getting involved in the community was something that gave
me satisfaction, and I didn’t have to worry a whole lot about skills—to do it, yo‘u know.

- But, being involved in thé community gave me a lot of skills also. And,; you
know and you know, and they would work with you in workshops and stuff like that, and
so you didn’t have to worry about the numbers and all of that other stuff that yo‘u did, you
know? ;

|
Okay. So after you were done with school, what were you doing aﬁérwards? szd you get
a job related to— : | E :
Ahh—no, I still kept doing part-time work, and I started to—‘cause it was in 19;74, when
I got my degree from Alameda, and then I started getting involved in the commlimity. I
started taking—Ilike the Oakland Community Organization—when they started,%I thought
that what they was doing was good, you know, and I wanted to get involved in lt So, I

got involved in that, and then the Oakland ‘conciliation Forum—they started th%eir

- organization, and what they was doing was they started out help the police with people

that had—like—little petty things happening to neighbors—you know—the peqple was
calling the police. So, they wanted to create an organization to get people to conclllate——

to get people to be better neighbors to each other. So, I got involved in that and 5went to
i
i
|

some workshops and learned that. And then—I don’t remember now.
Well, can I ask you—where were you living at that time?

Where was I living at that time? - : x
At Eighth— V ‘ ' | :
Eighth Avenue—still at Eighth Avenue. z ..

And you mentioned the Oakland Community Organization. What were they domg that

you liked so nmuch?

|
i
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- Council, del la Fonte. He was volunteering there.

They were doing some of the same things that the Black Panthers was doing,. Thiey were
working with the children—tutoring. They was even writing grants to low incorrgle
housing, which they do have, several of them now—Ilow income housing in the ;ai'ea that

they did. And working on like crime and in fact, that was the first time I seen our City

-
Really? And this was 19742 :
i

Yes. He was volunteering and now he’s City Council. President of the City Couhcil. But

anyway, hmmm. ..

i
!
.
E

Were you working a lot in your immediate neighborhood when you were doing }ikese
things with the Oakland— !

No, I wasn’t. I was in more like the area—actually, they were down at—where vé?ere

| they? Was it 50th? No, it wasn’t that far out. It was where the office was—~they éused to

have their worksﬁops—things like that—at that office. But they did do political %stuff, like

|
campaigning for certain things—initiatives and stuff like that. And we got out and

~ campaigned and picketed and marched and all of that. We did all of that. ! :

[N
So, were you a voter at this time—when you were involved with them? ;
Ahh, was I a voter at that time? When did I register to vote? Y ’know, I think we did—
‘cause I think—yes. I think that was— did I start voting at Alameda? Did we haivfe a
voting club at Alameda? I don’t remember, really, when I started the voting. It sfeiemed
like I did it forever, because right after I started, I started volunteering to work ait the
polls. And I always liked that because you see all your neighbors. You know, 1 1§<5ved
seeing everybody I hadn’t seen for a long time. So, I got hooked on that, and I’vfe been

doing it for I don’t know how many years—about twenty years, probably.
So, this was after you had gone to school. |

That was after I had gone to school. Yes. That was after.
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So, when you were involved with the Oakland Community Organization, you 've

mentioned that you were doing some campaigning? . !

Yes, we did campaigning for initiatives and things—for propositions and stuff that was
coming up for people to vote on. And we did that and we had rallies to educate t;he people
and all of that. |

Are there any particular issues or candidates that you remember really well?

During that time? Oh, let’s see...No. I really don’t. The only thing that would Iréake me
remember that is if T went back to the office. They’ve got pictures and things thejlt show

|
the past, over the years. I can’t remember any of the initiatives. '

Okay. So how long were you involved with them?

|
! .
|
|

I was involved with them for—maybe about nineteen—oh, hmm—1I’m trying to; separate

the times and the years—1I didn’t think it would be this hard to remember stuff, éUhmm—-—
Were you living on Eighth Avenue the whole time that you were with them? | |
|
|

Ilived on Eighth Avenue for a long time, yes.

Well, what about in referénce to the other one that you mentioned—the Oakland.

Reconciliation Forum. Were you working for both of them at the same time?

Was I working for both of them at the same time? Yes, I think—kinda—*cause %111 of ‘em
wasn’t full time. I think they was kind of together, like this—yeh—kind of together, and I

‘think during that time I was also taking some other kind of classes, like businessi classes

and the women’s initiative program that’s downtown now. I took classes there——i—the

“WISE”—that’s what it was. And then I was doing several things, you know, atithe. same

The Oakland Community Organization—was that a paid position? B

No, now of them was paid. It was volunteer.
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KK:  Didyou have a job that you were doing at the time? :

GJ:  Thad a job. I was also receiving aid from General Assistance at that time. And I;tﬁink that
was after I had been in school. And I was supposed to be preparing myself for a _]ob you
know. And I think I got General Asmstance which was about fifty dollars every two
weeks, or something like that, :

i

KK:  How did you feel receiving General Assistance and doing all the volunteer wor llc? What

was that like for you? ;
«

GJ:  Well, Ididn’t feel bad about it because to me it was a stepping stone, you know:. And I
still feel—even though right now, my only income is SSI, which is disability—-—«aimd I
always feel that even though—I mean—I haven’t been able to make it materialiize in
years, that it was always a stepping stone to something else better, you know. T]:nat’s the

~ only way I could think, you know. So, that’s what I always thought, and I alwayis felt that
you always give something back. And I think that’s come from my parents, too,ébecause
they was always givers themselves. They didn’t have a whole lot to give, but thfey gave |
themselves, and they fed other people if they needed it, you know and stuff likeg that. And
50, I never felt that—I always—it’s always been low income—I’ve always felt éﬁat
finances, and then when I began to learn my lack in education—where I really (iid lack, I
think that that has been a lot of the hindrance of a lot of the things that I would iiked to
have accomplished, because I couldn’t use my education—or use my educationito help

get those things I needed. Even after I went to school, I wasn’t able to learn those things,
and—but I still feel that I can learn.

KK:  It's never too late.

GJ:  No, I don’t feel like it’s too late. I feel like I can learn ‘em and even be involve(i in—if'1
don’t have my own design in the fashion business that I can benefit other fashio%ﬁ
designers. So, I still haven’t given up on anything, you know—and that’s what I;eeps me
motivated and keeps me alive and keeps me—of course, the young people keep:s me -
knowing that they are not what people say they are, you know. ‘Cause they say il'was a
lot of things too. So, I know that if it was true for me, it can be true for thein, y&u know.

So, that’s what keeps me going and keeps me being involved in the community | is the
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young people and how they relate to me—like, when I was hero—the young peo?ble, they
were selling drugs—I mean, they were doing all kinds of things in this building; %And
none of them ever bothered me. And this was back in ‘90—in *92, I think. And vi’vhen [
was here—and I stayed here through three times they had to evict everybody in ?he
apartments but me, because of drugs. I never had any problems with the young piéople,
you know. I think they broke in my car one time and got the battery, but I never gfélt any

- fear from them. And I think maybe it’s because I felt like that they were big at t}i)at

time-—that I was them a long time ago. So I didn’t feel any fear from them, you ;k'now.
i .

Does that come from your work with the Oakland Reconciliation [Board]? Do you think
that might have had an effect?

I don’t know. I hadn’t thought about that. I don’t think so. I think it came from my own
childhood—that 11 wanted to see the young people benefit. I wanted them to have more
choices, you know, which I didn’t feel that I had any choices at that time. And I;t_hmk just

by exposing them to stuff, you know—like we have artwork, and we let ‘em pla.in,, and we

let ‘em do this and do stuff-—just exposing them to stuff, you never know what ithey

might use it for.

i
- i
You mentioned that you had done childcare with the Black Panther Party. Did )')ou
continue working with children when you were with the Oakland Community I
Organization or any other organization? I
i |
No, nothmg but when I got involved with in this church. I had forgotten about 1f
altogether. That was—I got involved in this church in 1977, I think. And, ahh— i

What church was it? : L
It’s called St. Paul Church of God and Christ.

And is that in this neighborhood?

* It’s in this neighborhood. Wait, wait, wait, wait—let me see. It’s on 20™ and East 20—no,

it’s not in this neighborhood. It’s over by 14® Avenue in the Fruitvale area, but ;that’s
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when I started taking classes for child development—ah, what they call it? Yes,g child

development.
The church offered classes? i
|
No, I took them at Merritt. ; ,
|
Oh, okay—and you used what you learned there to work with children? 5
To work with child care—with the kids, yes.

Why did you decide to go into child care?

i
|
i
i
i
!

.Because of the affiliation with the church. And I had got involved with the chur;ch and

i
joined the church, and it was something different—something I hadn’t tried yet: So, I
tried that. | |

i R
How did that work out for you?

It didn’t work out too well, but I liked the family part. I liked it because—and tilat was -
during the time I was begfnning to stop doing a lot of socializing with men because of

bad relationships. So, that’s when I started getting involved with the church, an'd then it
was kind of like a family to me. So, I liked that part of i. |

Did you do any other community work with them or were you just working wz’th% the kids?
I was just working with the kids. That was really one of the things that I becausica;it
didn’t work out too well, because I wanted to see mote outreach in the communfity, and
they wasn’t doing it. I mean, they had the child éare, but that was about all. Iwénted to
do some more involvement in the community, because during that time that’s ofyer on
20™ Avenue. 'm going to have to look at the map and see if it’s in there—and s%ee what
they call that area. I think that district goes with Lake Merritt, I think. I’m not s;ure. But,
things began to happen—Iike drugs and all around us—drugs and selling drugsiqn the

corners and things like that began to start happening along in that time.

_ _ §
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About when was that?
That was—like—’80—"81, °82, *83, *84, ‘85—it just started happening more and more

each year,
Where were you living at that time?

I was living on 20" Avenue, and then I moved. Let’s see, when did I move back to
Fruitvale? I moved back to Fruitvale—no, I didn’t. I moved to East Oakland on 85" and

I stayed there one year, and then I moved here, I
» !

After? .

1 got all the way back here. Yeh. So, I left 20" Avenue, and then I went to East Qakland,

and I stayed there for a year, and then in °85, I came here to live here.

Okay. Can I go back and ask—when you were involved with the church, you said you

wanted to do more outreach, what did you mean? What did you want to do?

Well, I think that the church—at that time, I was seeing people that needed realgly help,
you know. The people needed help going to them, rather than waiting for them 5:0 come {0
the church. And that’s what I wanted to see. I wanted to see the church go to thfe'
community more—to get involved in the community—to find out the needs of ?he
community more, you know. And they wasn’t doing 1t They was praying for thle
community, which is good, but I thought that they should be out—that we shouéld be out

in the community. i

Were you able to get out into the community on your own at that time or did yo}t join

another community group? i
|
.

Let’s see, what did I do after that? I came here and that’s when I started to——yoiu know, I
think—I’m trying to think back now—I think that all of—okay, they things thag!: 1did—
ah, well, ’'m trying to remember the things that I did from—because I got into :;ny first
'involvement in this neighborhood, it was in 1996, we started the Home Alert, a:nd then, at

that time, drugs was just sold—I mean, they was everywhere, they had a drive—ilp
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drugstore, I called it—an illegal drugstore right out there. T hey’d just drive up gand get it
and go on, you know. And then, I mean, it was every place, and I began to see -: for a
while nobody got involved—especially in this neighborhood. In fact, it seemed like
nobody was getting involved in any of the neighborhoods. And they was just leEtting it go
on, you know. ‘ ' '

So, that’s when the Home Alert group—they was about dealmg with the crime
after the crime happened. And I didn’t like that because we had some kids gettmg killed.
I mean, they was kids. They wasn’t even through with being teenagers yet. And I didn’t
like that, you know. I didn’t like just throwing everybody in jail and not having some

kind of alternative or something, you know. So, that’s why we wanted to start, within the

“Home Alert group, I decided that I wanted to be a part of the solution rather than part of

the problem, you know—straightening out the problem after. And then that’s How I

started getting involved with the Community Health Academy, which was an E
orgamzatxon that works in the community. And it was the—oh, what was the name of the
organization right now down the street here—the Community—oh, wow, what! is the
name of that Organizatioh? The Spanish-Speaking Unity Council—that’s what 1t was. I
started getting involved with them. |

Was this about—you mentioned 1 996——wds this all at the same time? i |

Yes, that was all at the same time that-—I think, that I started—because these o;ther times
that I got involved, it didn’t go very far with them, and then I was also trying td do my
own business, and I was taking classes for that and all of that stuff. And, but aﬁer the
drugs got so really bad in this area and everything, that’s when I started gettmé involved
in the community more. And sitting on boards and thmgs like that to see, “What could I
do from the inside, rather than calling the police every time something happened?” I
didn’t like that and I still don’t like that, and that’s how I started the FACE orgia'nization
that we call Frmtvale Appreciating Cultural Exchange, and that was why 1 wanted it
because a lot of the people in the community were so diverse and they were shuttmg off
themselves from each other, and then they was letting the drug dealers come in ‘and do
anything they wanted to do. : ' ‘

So I wanted to start an organization that would be inclusive to everybody And

then the first thing I had to do, I found out that I had to learn how to get to these peoples

, . |-
of other cultures, and I didn’t have a language—I couldn’t speak to them. And ;the only

way I knew how to speak to them was through love, you know—speaking it and you
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people—how stereotypé is—Asian people, you know, like to be to them’selveé«Ltheir~
own culture. So, they don’t want to be bothered with you. And I found out all ﬂ%nét’s a lie,
you know. People are just waiting for you to reach otit, you know. And that's thie' way' it
has been for me, you know. You reach out to people, they’ll have they hand be there, you
know. You reach out to them, and 1 found that out to be true. =
And I think even though I haven’t accomplished what I wanted to in m;lf fashion

desngn and in my business and all of that, I still feel that I’ve accomplished somethmg,

" and I still feel that that is a tool that I still have. I'm working with my hands, yop know.
. And I feel—in fact, when I opened the Center—when we got a grant through th:e;

county—they gave us a $40,000 grant, and we opened this building around hereé for after -
school for the kids to have a bike program and a cooking program and a gardeni:rig '
program. And we had just outreach for the young people, and that’s what I reallP; liked. I
felt that that was very fulﬁlhng to me, I’'m sure. And then I could teach the kldSlsewmg

-and design, you know. So, that’s what [ really felt like my call was for. I said, “Oh
-wow!” I was thinking it was for my own business, but it’s for me to teach chlldl‘en— ’

_ kids—you know. And I’m coming to find out that they loved it. A lot of them hgd never

even seen a machine. But they were so clothes-oriented, you know. They wante(:i'all these
desigper clothes and stuff. And then, I’d tell them, “Yes, you all can design youfrown
clothes, you know.” And it—still, it was really hard to get them to really undersitand,

~ because they wanted designer-made. They don’t want to design their own clothés.

Make their own designer.

. ‘ R M ) { .
Yes, that’s right. That’s right. That’s right. So, I learned that fulfillment from doing a lot

of things for the community. And this little boy—I’11 never forget—it was a littlfe boy,
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* have—and so she wanted me to call the police, and so 1 cauea tne pouce, anu wey gave

| her- a translétor‘on the'phone so she could communicate. And then we just fell m love -
with each other, you know In fact, she gave me that fruit basket. She’s always feedmg
me and stuff like that. And her farmly——-I just love the whole famlly So, I just started

l
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and took me by the arm and pulled me down to her house. And come to find out, her son
i .

had left, and he was—had got lost. and he couldn’t find his way back home——Qléle didn’t
!
i
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know, just smiling and these different things. And that’s the way it started. .Y01§1 know,
that’s the way it started. 2
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So, all of this work—was it with FACE?

When did you open it? 3

and we took the machmes up to the park one weekend and took some fabric up there and

4 some manikins, And this boy wrapped a design on this manikin that I wouldn’t know

where in the world—and he had never even seen a manikin or a piece of fabric i 1|n a piece

like that before—
—and it just amazed me.

With FACE and with—what was the name of it? What was it called? It was _Qal ed—oh,
wow, I can’t remember—the grandparents—it was called AGAIN —AGAIN, which was

Grandparents Raising their Grandkids, and, actually, I got involved with them because
my niece in Chicago was, and still is, hung up on crack, and she had these kids |and sol
took ‘em and brought ‘em down here. So, that’s how I got involved in that progil‘am. And
it was called AGAIN—and actually, all of them that was involved in it was grarsldparents, '
and they was raising their children’s children because their children were on ,cré.@:k. And -
that’s when it began to really get bad, you know. It was getting bad. So, they wziis trying
to come up with ways that they could help the young people—help the kids tha'é was
being affected by this drug. So, let’s see, what else— " '

Well, you mentioned a community building up the street.
Yes. It was 2935 Coolidge Avenue—right up here at Fruitvale, and we got thesé bonds in
the year 2000 from the Supervisor, Keith Carson’s office, to open the building, and that’s '
what we did, and we stayed there until last year—October 16" —we were there, because I
got sick, and I didn’t have anybody to run the place, and so, we closed it down

We opened it January 1, 2001.

And you mentioned that you got some money from the city or the— L
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- Thad to apply, yes. A_ctually, they were very good. They came and helped me write the

| | A
Yes—through the—it was the county—through the Supervisor, Keith Carson’s :office.

They, actually, they handled the mbney—-——some of it anyway—ithe city and also fche

. county and _different ones they have money for—outreach in the community-~fc!>x" peoplé

that’s doing outreach in the community. S ' A

Did you have to apply to get that?

grant and everything.
What was that like?

That wés exciting. It was really exciting. The whole thing was really exciting. And we

had our grand opening and everybody came, and you know, it was really, realiy; nice. It

was really good. I enjoyed that. I enjoyed working with the people. But what I really
wanted to do at this age that [ am now—I wanted to create a place for the child{'e'n. Butl
wanted the young people, like yourself, to do it. I wanted to do the class for theé design
and sewing, and you know, like that—and go out and raise money to keep monfeil coming
in to the organization. But I wanted the young people to do it, you know. I didng’t want to
do it, because I know that there is just so much that I can.do. So, actually, I did iget some
young people in. They did—they came in. We were only doing our programé thfr.ough
volunteers, and so, nobody ever got paid in any of this. And they came in and tljgley
brought their staff. They did the bike program, they did the gardening program,i and they
would take the kids on trips and things around the town and go to beaches and Iétuﬁ' like
that, which was really good. And they would teach them bike safety and how to? fix their
bike and how to even make bikes. And they would be there for a while, and the?y would
make their own bikes, you know. So that was really éxciting. And we also had é:{)mputer
classes there that we taught twice a week—computer class. And we had sewing! class
twice a week. And we had tutoring and—homework and tutoring there. They did that.

Were any of the schools—like the local schools—involved with the community Ecganter?

Yes—Fruitvale School. The kids came from Fruifvale School doWn there—-aﬁéf

school—they would get out and théy would come down to the place where the;!f got .
i

tatoring and after-school training, and we would give them that, and on certainidays, they
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~ would have the bike program. Certain days, they had a cooking program, in Whic‘i:h they’d
show them how to make cookies and stuff like that. And all—the cooking one——ishe was
a volunteer. She was a cook in the area. She was a baker, and she volunteered to[teach the
kids how to make cookies and cakes and stuff like that. So, that was good. 5

But, I kind of feel like that if we could have been there longer, that we could
have made a big difference. And during the time that I was sick, a few people gqt killed
in the neighborhood, you know—got shot on drugs, and people got broke in—{ tirjlean," it
was robberies and stuff like that, and I thought, “Oh, God, I can’t handle this, you know.

* Ican’t handle this.” And so, when I got sick, I knew that if I had of tried to keepf the -
building, that it wouldn’t be doing nothing but the rent going up. You know, Just keep
owing the man. And so we didn’t owe him anything then, and so I fold him—I sfﬁid, “I
have to this close up, because I don’t have nobody to run the place.” " '

And that’s where I am now. I have a few people come over sometimes and use
the computer if they want to learn something or if they want to go on the Intemelst. Even
the kids—the bigger kids that come—if they want to do their projects or sometl'iling on
the computer, I let them do that. And go to the park, and do outreach there. We have a
bulleting board up there that we try to keep information on about what’s going on in the
community and what’s available for the people in the neighborhood. So, I’m Stliﬂ doing
that, and I’'m hoping that that’s what this one Saturday is for—we is just going llto—
whenever something is going on in the commqnity just let the people know wh'ziltt it is,
and try to get them involved in it, you know. And the biggest problem that I ha\fzé now is
getting it out—getting the information out, you know—in the community. Beca?uée 4
sometimes you need-—and tﬁat’s what I liked about the Health Academy—that ,éwhen 1
got—

[End of Intefview 1; End of Tape 1, Side 2]
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Overview:

Nicol Park is located at the Northwest corner of Coolidge Ave. and Nicol Ave.

The purpose of this research was to ascertain whether Nicol Park was specifically named in honor or
memory of a particular family or person, in order to determine whether we could proceed with our
proposal to change the park’s name. The research process included phone conversations with local
historians and several hours at the Oakland History Room looking at Block Books, Directories and
newspaper microfiches.

Conclusion:

Nicol Park is not itself directly named after a family or individual. As recently as 1910, there was a
residence on the corner that now contains the park. When the park was created, it was evidently just
given the name of the street it was on, for convenience.

Research Detail

The primary source for local history is a booklet by “Quentin”, an Oakland librarian, now deceased. Per
City Historian Betty Martin and also local historian Dennis Evanosky, that booklet has no definitive
information about Nicol Ave. It merely states that it is, “a street in the de Wolf tract, 1891” (ie a part of
the tract filed by William de Wolf in 1891).

In subsequent conversation with local historian Dennis Evanosky, he speculated a Nicol family at some
point owned and maybe lived on that nearby hill. But he advised there is no mention of them in the
1870 or 1880 census data. This was later re-affirmed by our direct research in city directories and block
books going back to the 19" ¢ at the Main Library. The “Nicol Tract” appears in 1900 and 1910
information, but no specific family or owner could be found. Dennis Evanosky reported that he had
done extensive research into the de Wolfe family hoping to find someone with a first- or family-name of
“Nicol”, to identify origin similar to Capp or Schuyler or Alice streets, but was unable to find anything.

Our direct research in the City Room of Oakland’s Main Library included review of Directories and Block
Books going back to the 19" century
o Directories: 1870, 1875, 1910 — these listed persons with the last name of “Nicol” but, as noted
previously by local historians, there was no visible connection between any of them and this
property.
e Block Books: 1889 (Brooklyn), 1899, 1902, 1908, 1910
e Newpaper records searching on “Nicol” going back to the 19" century.

The Block Books indicate that residences stood on the site of the current Nicol Park (see image below).
While Nicol Avenue was in existence in 1899, there was no park until sometime in the 20" century. It
seems fairly clear that the Park was simply given the name of its street, and the origin of its name is
equally murky. One block book mentions a “Nicol Tract”, however there is no Nicol of that era who
shows up or could be connected to this area as owner of this land. And any mention of individuals
named Nicol did not proliferate, ie there is no |nd|cat|on that any family remains who might be
connected, even to Nicol Avenue.



The 1910 Block Book
showing residences at
the site of the current
Nicol Park, at the
corner of Nicol &
Peralta (now Coolidge)
Avenues




